FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/7/2025 4:21 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_ Court of Appeals No. 39692-4-III Case #: 1041608

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v. ADRIAN MENDOZA, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Zachary L. Hentzel, Rule 9 Nancy P. Collins, Attorney

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. Introduction

A psychologist agreed Adrian Mendoza's "extremely unstable and traumatic" childhood was worse than most people in the criminal legal system. Abandoned by his parents and abused or neglected by others, Adrian was encouraged to use drugs at age 10, and by age 13 the only people who cared about him were gang members. After he was charged with a serious offense, the State declined to remove the 17-year-old Latino boy's case to juvenile court. After he pled guilty, the court imposed the harshest possible adult sentence. The Court of Appeals disregarded evidence demonstrating that youths of color are disproportionately tried as adults, and affirmed Adrian's exceptionally punitive sentence despite the sentencing court's cursory consideration of his youth.

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Adrian Mendoza asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' March 4, 2025 decision denying Mr. Mendoza's challenges to the constitutionality of RCW 13.04.030 and the lawfulness of the sentence imposed.

#### C. Issues Presented for Review

1. Juvenile court offers substantial benefits to youths based on its rehabilitative focus. RCW 13.04.030(1)(e) directs the automatic transfer of some juvenile cases to adult court but simultaneously grants the prosecution discretion to return any youth's case to juvenile court.

Adrian challenged the statute's broad veto power over a court's jurisdiction as unconstitutionally delegating judicial power, contrary to *State ex rel. Schillberg v. Cascade Dist. Ct.*, 94 Wn.2d 772, 621 P.2d 115 (1980). The Court of Appeals affirmed the prosecution's veto power over juvenile court jurisdiction, even when the prosecution exercises that power in an arbitrary and racially biased fashion. This Court

should grant review to address whether RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(I) and (III) unconstitutionally delegate judicial power. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

- 2. Schillberg counsels that statutes giving unbridled discretion to the prosecution over partially judicial acts risk arbitrary actions and violations of due process. The Court of Appeals rejected Adrian's challenge to the unfettered prosecutorial authority contained in RCW 13.04.030, despite statistics demonstrating that youths of color are tried as adults at rates greatly exceeding their white peers. This Court should grant review to determine the constitutionality of a statutory regime that produces racially discriminatory results and lacks standards. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 3. Under this Court's precedent, Eighth Amendment proportionality concerns mandate that sentencing courts meaningfully adjust a youth's adult sentence based on the mitigating qualities of youth, such as maturity, impetuosity, and effects of familial and peer pressure. As the vehement

Court of Appeals dissent recognized, the lower court imposed the most punitive sentence possible despite uncontested evidence that Adrian's transitory immaturity significantly contributed to this offense. This Court should grant review to address whether disregarding overwhelming evidence of diminished culpability due to youth is contrary to the principles underlying the Eighth Amendment and violates this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Adrian was woefully abused and neglected throughout his childhood, where adults pushed him to abuse drugs and join a gang at a very young age.

Adrian Mendoza's childhood "was extremely unstable and traumatic, even relative to other criminal defendants." CP 151. His father was deported shortly after his birth and his substance-abusing mother left him with "a lot of drug people." CP 144. He lived in a "trap house" and was passed to various homes, experiencing extreme abuse and neglect from a young age. CP 144, 147. He was sexually assaulted

by adults responsible for caring for him. CP 144, 147. On occasions too numerous to count, he was subjected to domestic violence and emotional abuse. CP 147, 151.

"He was using illicit substances regularly before puberty," at the encouragement by his mother's boyfriend when 10 years old. CP 145, 151. Everyone around him was a "drug addict" and he "saw everyone else doing it," so he followed along. CP 145.

Adrian was placed in special education at a young age. CP 145. In the ninth grade, after having been repeatedly disciplined for poor behavior and drug use, he dropped out of school. CP 145.

Without any support structure, his only source of community could be found in gangs. In the fifth grade, he began hanging out with members of the Westside 18th Street Gang and, at age 13, he was initiated into their ranks. CP 145. He explained:

I felt like they cared more than anybody else. Yeah, I did get high and stuff, but they gave me clothes, and when I had nobody, they'd drink with me. They'd give me things to help me out. . . . I felt like they cared more than anybody else. I had nobody, so it was like the family I never had.

#### CP 145.

Around older gang members, Adrian got into trouble with the law. CP 154. At 13, he was sent to juvenile detention for throwing rocks at a car. CP 145. At 14, he was convicted of unlawful display of a weapon capable of producing bodily harm after brandishing a BB gun. 4/21/23 RP 20. At 16, Adrian accidentally shot himself in the hand with a firearm, and was later convicted for second-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. *Id.* at 21. Some months after, Adrian was convicted of criminal mischief in connection with injuries inflicted in a gang-related scrap. *Id.* And, at age 17, he was charged with second-degree assault for allegedly pointing a firearm at someone. *Id.* at 22.

2. Sleep deprived, surrounded by gang members, and intoxicated to the point of blacking out, when he was just 17 years old, Adrian impulsively discharged a firearm, killing Ms. Nunez.

On May 5, 2019, Adrian—then 17 years old—was at a Kennewick apartment with gang associates. CP 146. He was sleep deprived, drinking alcohol, and smoking methamphetamines to the point of repeatedly blacking out over the course of several days. CP 146–47. By coincidence, he and his inebriated companions noticed Andrea Nunez and her boyfriend walking past the apartment at approximately 4:12 AM. 4/21/23 RP 18. They left the apartment to confront Ms. Nunez. *Id.* 

According to the probable cause statement, Adrian identified himself as a Westside gang member and, after Ms. Nunez said she belonged to a rival gang, Adrian discharged a firearm. CP 3. One of the bullets struck and killed Ms. Nunez. Slip op. at 2. The State estimated that three minutes

elapsed between Ms. Nunez walking past the apartment and her being shot. 4/21/23 RP 18; CP 4.

Adrian ran away and went to Oregon. Slip op. at 2. He was quickly apprehended by police and was arraigned on a first-degree murder charge two days after the shooting. 5/07/19 RP 4–9. The State immediately stated that, despite Adrian's youth, his case would not be removed to juvenile court. Slip op. at 7.

Adrian ultimately pled guilty to second-degree murder with a firearm enhancement. 4/21/23 RP 13.

During his incarceration, forensic psychologist Dr.

Alexander Patterson interviewed Adrian, conducted
numerous tests, and interviewed people familiar with his
childhood. CP 144; 4/21/23 RP 46. In his written
evaluation, Dr. Patterson recounted Adrian's "extremely
traumatic childhood." CP 144-48.

Dr. Patterson determined that Adrian's conduct was driven by "a learned pattern" from a lifetime of being

abused, "betrayed, and/or abandoned by trusted individuals." CP 150. Adrian's "extremely unstable," abusive and neglected childhood made him more vulnerable to manipulative adults. CP 151. He was "even more cognitively immature at the time of the crime due to childhood trauma" than his age alone would suggest. CP 154–55.

Dr. Patterson found that Adrian was not antisocial or predisposed to commit crimes. He "can be successfully rehabilitated in a stable, structured, treatment-focused environment," and that "[w]ith the right interventions in place, [Adrian]'s criminal recidivism risk will significantly reduce." CP 155. But Dr. Patterson cautioned that prison could undermine Adrian's rehabilitation because he needed to "unlearn" his childhood experiences by being in a "positive, stable environment." CP 152–53.

3. The State adultified Adrian at sentencing, portraying him as an incorrigible and dangerous adult man who is incapable of abiding by the law.

The State's sentencing recommendation was 294 months imprisonment—the maximum permitted for an adult under the SRA. 4/21/23 RP 17, 29.

The State insisted Adrian was a mature, incorrigble adult and "not a naïve, immature youth." *Id.* at 25. It argued, "the defendant has been living a *very adult lifestyle* for the majority of his youth." *Id.* (emphasis added). Adopting Dr. Patterson's evaluation, the State noted that adults pushed Adrian to use alcohol and drugs was he was 10 years old, he joined a gang at 13, and dropped out of school in the ninth grade. *Id.* at 25-26. "It's all sad," the State said, "[b]ut, sadly, there are many children who have obstacles growing up and choose a different path." *Id.* at 27.

The prosecution insisted Adrian was a "very dangerous individual" who "has no respect for the law." *Id.* at 20, 23. It contended that in his interactions with juvenile

court, "he has demonstrated by his own actions that *he* cannot be successfully rehabilitated." *Id.* at 28 (emphasis added).

While recognizing the shooting happened quickly and essentially spontaneously, the State dismissed the idea that Adrian acted impulsively. It claimed the shooting must have been purposefully planned because Adrian went in one direction while the members of his gang went in a different direction. 4/21/23 RP 26. It did not address Adrian's extreme inebriation or lack of sleep at the time of the incident.

Adrian's attorney asked the court to impose a sentence of 101 months imprisonment—the highest juvenile sentence under the JRA. *Id.* at 43. Describing his childhood as "one of the worst situations I've seen," she contested the State's assertions that Adrian "chose" that life. *Id.* at 37, 42. To the contrary, "the only choices I've seen Mr. Mendoza make are the choices that he's made to better himself." *Id.* at 42. For instance, Adrian voluntarily transferred to another wing of

the jail where gangs held less sway. *Id.* at 38–39. He sought treatment for chemical dependency, first obtaining suboxone and then attaining sobriety. *Id.* at 39, 57. He has become an avid reader and constantly asks for self-help books. *Id.* at 40. He intends to get his GED as soon as possible. *Id.* His behavior was consistent with Dr. Patterson's prognosis for successful rehabilitation. *Id.* at 42.

Adrian was too overcome with emotion to speak on his own behalf and asked his lawyer to read a statement he wrote. *Id.* at 56. He admitted he made some "very poor life decisions," though none "could ever compare to the one I made on May 5th of 2019." *Id.* He said he was "sincerely and undeniably sorry." *Id.* 

He explained he was surrounded by "violent, drug addicted, gang mentality individuals" his entire life, and "never had . . . real role models" as a child. *Id.* at 57. The adults around him pushed him to abuse substances when he was 10. *Id.* He never felt like he had a choice but to follow

them. *Id.* The people influencing him daily "didn't show me compassion or how to care or how to handle certain situations." *Id.* Instead, he was preyed upon by people ill-suited for child rearing. *Id.* at 60.

The court imposed the high-end sentence of 294 months the State sought. Id. at 65. The court said nothing of Dr. Patterson's report beyond claiming to have "reviewed" it and that its contents were "very difficult to read." Id. at 35, 63. It acknowledged Adrian was 17 but did not address his maturity. Id. at 35, 63. The court said that by leaving the apartment armed and discharging the firearm, Adrian did not act impulsively. *Id.* at 63–64. The court did not mention peer pressure beyond saying that Adrian "was with others" before concluding, without explanation, that "[h]e had many opportunities, in my opinion, that could have led to a different outcome." *Id.* at 64. It announced that the maximum adult sentence was "fair." *Id.* at 64-65.

#### E. ARGUMENT

- 1. RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III) unconstitutionally delegates judicial power by giving prosecutors the unbridled and unreviewable discretion to veto judicial decisions.
  - a. State judicial power is vested in the courts alone, and even partially judicial acts cannot be vetoed by prosecutors.

Washington's Constitution provides that state judicial power is vested exclusively in the courts. Const. art. IV, § 1. The legislature may not delegate judicial authority, even partially judicial authority, to the prosecution without standards for exercising this authority. *Schillberg*, 94 Wn.2d at 779–81.

In *Schillberg*, this Court held unconstitutional a statute that gave the prosecution unfettered authority to veto a deferred prosecution, without any standards for exercising this authority. At that time, former RCW 10.05.030 permitted a court to refer a defendant for an evaluation to receive a deferred prosecution only with "the concurrence of the prosecuting attorney." *Id.* at 775.

Schillberg prescribes a two-part analysis for determining whether a statute unconstitutionally delegates judicial power. *Id.* It determines whether the power at issue is "essentially judicial or prosecutorial." *Id.* Judicial power includes "wholly or partially judicial" authority. *Id.* Then it considers whether the prosecution is able to "veto" the court's decision. *Id.* (emphasis added). If so, it violates article IV, section 1.

Applying that test, this Court ruled the deferred prosecution statute was unconstitutional due to the prosecution's veto. The decision to grant a deferral was at least a partially judicial function, not merely a charging decision. *Id.* at 776. The statute essentially authorized a prosecutorial veto by requiring the prosecution's agreement. *Id.* at 781. The statute proscribed no standards whatsoever to govern the prosecution's choice to agree or veto the deferral. *Id.* at 779. This Court held that "[s]ince the current statute permits the prosecution to arbitrarily 'veto' a discretionary

decision of the courts," the part of the statute requiring the prosecutor's discretion unconstitutionally transgressed the separation of powers. *Id.* at 781.

b. The Court of Appeals' decision upholding RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v) squarely contradicts this Court's holding in Schillberg.

Like the unconstitutional statute in *Schillberg*, RCW 13.04.030's provisions granting the prosecution unfettered discretionary veto power violates separation of powers.

RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(I) gives the juvenile court authority over juvenile cases, except for certain offenses charged against 16 or 17 year olds. But even for offenses routed to adult court, the statute contains an exception, allowing the prosecution and respondent to agree to remove any juvenile's case back to juvenile court with the court's approval. RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III).

Subsection (1)(e)(v)(III) creates a significant loophole in the otherwise automatic transfer of a juvenile case to adult court. At the prosecution's request, a juvenile may avoid the

otherwise mandatory requirement of adult court jurisdiction, as long as they and the court approves. The statute does not offer any standards or criteria governing the prosecution's decision to transfer a child's case back to juvenile court.

The Court of Appeals dismissed *Schillberg* as a case only about the type of "sentence the trial court imposed." Slip op. at 7. But, like a deferred prosecution referral, deciding whether to remove a case to juvenile court is "at least partially a judicial act" because it involves actions that fall squarely within the competency of trial court judges and significantly impacts the punitive consequences at stake.

For example, in discretionary decline cases, the court or a party may request transferring a case from juvenile to adult court, but the decision belongs to the court alone.

RCW 13.40.110. Similar to the statute in *Schillberg*, the court's declination decision involves "an examination of the circumstances of the particular case: weighing of the allegations, hearing arguments contrary to the petition, and

resolving disputes between the parties." *Schillberg*, 94 Wn.2d at 778. Deciding whether to remove a case to or from juvenile court is "partially judicial." *Id.* at 775.

Under RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III), the prosecution wields the unfettered and partially judicial authority over whether to remove of a child's case back to juvenile court.

The Court of Appeals ruled RCW

13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III) does not unconstitutionally delegate judicial power by authorizing a prosecutorial veto because "[t]he adult court, ultimately, decides whether the case will be removed." Slip op. at 7–8. This ignores the decisive role played by the prosecution in deciding whether a case is removed and is contrary to *Schillberg*.

In *Schillberg*, the court also decided whether to grant a deferral. *Schillberg*, 94 Wn.2d at 775. But, similar to the statute at issue here, the court's determination was wholly immaterial if the prosecutor withheld approval. Former RCW 10.05.030 required the consent of three parties before

referrals could be made: (1) the defendant making the petition; (2) the prosecutor; and (3) the court. *Id.* No referral could ever be issued over the objection of the prosecutor, so the statute authorized a prosecutorial "veto." *Id.* at 781.

RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III) contains precisely the same prosecutorial veto authority that this Court declared unconstitutional in *Schillberg*. Much like former RCW 10.05.030, that statute requires the consent of three parties—prosecution being one of them—before a case is removed to juvenile court. And just like *Schillberg*, this statute does not prescribe standards governing the prosecutor's decision, making this delegation of judicial power especially problematic.

RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III) gives prosecutors the unfettered discretion from the otherwise mandatory transfer of cases to adult court. But if the prosecutor refuses—for any reason—the court cannot transfer the case. This opens the door to arbitrary deprivations of the benefits conferred by

juvenile court on the whim of the prosecutor. Such a veto amounts to an unconstitutional delegation of authority.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with holdings by this Court and is an important constitutional question.

This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

2. RCW 13.04.030 unfairly deprives youth of color of the opportunity to be rehabilitated in juvenile court, violating due process and making juvenile justice less equitable.

a. In Schillberg, this Court cautioned that unbridled prosecutorial discretion may open the door to arbitrary and unconstitutional actions.

In *Schillberg*, this Court presciently observed that discretion without standards invites injustice. This Court stated:

The employment of standards to guide a prosecutorial decision minimizes the possibility that the State will act arbitrarily in violation of the due process rights of defendants. Where the prosecutor makes an initial eligibility determination based on clear standards, and such determination is subject to judicial review, the risk to a defendant is greatly reduced, and the chance enhanced that the legislative purpose of deferred prosecution will be achieved.

Schillberg, 94 Wn.2d at 779. Without standards governing the prosecution's discretion over when to agree to juvenile court jurisdiction under RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III), youths of color are tried as adults at rates greatly exceeding that of their white peers.

b. Prosecutorial discretion has resulted in racial discrimination, depriving youth of color of benefits otherwise enjoyed by similarly situated white youth.

RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(III) does not prescribe any standards that prosecutors must adhere to in determining whether discretionary removal is appropriate.

Notwithstanding that omission, the Court of Appeals insisted that "[t]here is nothing arbitrary about giving prosecutors an important role" in deciding whether a case is removed. Slip op. at 7. It ruled that "giving prosecutors an important role in deciding whether to remove serious crimes committed by older youths to juvenile court" subsection (III) simply offered older youths "a greater opportunity for rehabilitation—the focus of juvenile court." *Id*.

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