FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/6/2025 2:36 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1041608

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF

WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

VS.

ADRIAN MENDOZA

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Benton County

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

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. This case does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) states:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mendoza has failed to demonstrate how his case satisfies any of the four requirements for the Court to accept review.

His main contention is simply that the court of appeals erred.

However, not every error is one of constitutional magnitude, let alone a significant question of law under the constitution.

Furthermore, there is no conflict with existing caselaw. Here, the case does not fall under any of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

a. Mendoza did not preserve his constitutional claims in the trial court.

The Court of Appeals erred in reviewed Mendoza's constitutional claims because he did not raise them in the trial court. It has long been the law in Washington that an "appellate

court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a); State v. Lyskoski, 47 Wn.2d 102, 108, 287 P.2d 114 (1955). The underlying policy of the rule is to "encourag[e] the efficient use of judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). The rule comes from the principle that trial counsel and the defendant are obligated to seek a remedy to errors as they occur, or shortly thereafter. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756, 760 (2009), as corrected (Jan. 21, 2010) (citation omitted).

The general rule that an assignment of error be preserved includes an exception when the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a). This exception encompasses developing case law while ensuring

only certain constitutional questions can be raised for the first time on review. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98 (citation omitted).

To meet RAP 2.5(a) and raise an error for the first time on appeal, an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension.

State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

Stated another way, the appellant must "identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the [appellant]'s rights at trial." *Id.* at 926–27. If a court determines the claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it may still be subject to a harmless error analysis. State v.

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

In analyzing the asserted constitutional interest, courts do not assume the alleged error is of constitutional magnitude.

Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 687. The courts look to the asserted claim and assess whether, if correct, it implicates a constitutional interest as compared to another form of trial error. See id. at 689–91.

After determining the error is of constitutional magnitude, the appellate court must determine whether the error was manifest. "Manifest" in RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires a showing of actual prejudice. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 935 (citations omitted). To demonstrate actual prejudice, there must be a plausible showing by the appellant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. *Id.* (citations omitted). In determining whether the error was identifiable, the trial record must be sufficient to determine the merits of the claim. Id. (citations omitted). "If the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest." McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333.

It is not the role of an appellate court on direct appeal to address claims where the trial court could not have foreseen the potential error or where the prosecutor or trial counsel could have been justified in their actions or failure to object. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 100.

Here, nothing in the record shows that Mendoza ever asked a prosecutor to waive exclusive adult jurisdiction. Nor did he show any cases where exclusive adult jurisdiction was waived by the prosecutor. And he never objected to exclusive adult jurisdiction. In all the cases challenging juvenile court jurisdiction on a constitutional basis, the defendant raised the issue in the trial court in direct appeal.

Here, Mendoza had no right to be tried in juvenile court. See In re Boot, 130 Wn.2d 553, 571, 925 P.2d 964 (1996). As such, there was no error. Furthermore, there was nothing manifest about the error. He did not request that the prosecutor waive adult court jurisdiction.

On appeal, he cited to studies that are not part of the trial court record below. As a result, the State had no opportunity to challenge the studies or data relied upon in the trial court.

When additional studies were submitted after oral argument, the State also did not have an opportunity to challenge them. These studies should have been presented at the trial court level,

where the conclusions and data could be challenged by the State.

Because Mendoza did not object or preserve any errors at the trial level, this court should deny review on that basis alone. The Court of Appeal erred in finding that the issue could be raised for the first time on appeal. The issue should have been rejected under RAP 2.5.

b. The Court of Appeals correctly found no equal protection or due process violations.

Although the Court of Appeals should have found no manifest error subject to review, they were correct in finding no equal protection or due process violations.

Equal protection requires that all similarly situated persons "with respect to the legitimate purpose of the law receive like treatment." *State v. Simmons*, 152 Wn.2d 450, 458, 98 P.3d 789 (2004). Equal protection is not intended to provide complete equality among individuals but is instead intended to provide equal application of the laws. *Id.* "A party challenging

the application of a law as violating equal protection principles has the burden of showing that the law is irrelevant to maintaining a state objective or that it creates an arbitrary classification." *Id*.

Courts have typically used three levels of scrutiny to determine whether equal protection has been violated: (1) the "rational relationship" test, the lowest level of scrutiny; (2) the "intermediate scrutiny" test; and (3) the "strict scrutiny" test, the highest level of scrutiny. *State v. Schaat*, 109 Wn.2d 1, 17, 743 P.2d 240 (1987). Courts use the "strict scrutiny" test if the allegedly discriminatory classification affects a suspect class or a fundamental right. *State v. Osman*, 157 Wn.2d 474, 484, 139 P.3d 334 (2006). The "intermediate scrutiny" test is used if gender-based classifications are at issue or if the allegedly discriminatory classification affects a "semisuspect" class. *Id.*

The rational relationship test applies here because this

Court previously held "[j]uveniles are neither a suspect class nor

semisuspect class." *In re Boot*, 130 Wn.2d at 572-73. The "rational basis" test has been described as:

[T]he most relaxed and tolerant form of judicial scrutiny under the equal protection clause. Under this test, the legislative classification will be upheld unless it rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to achievement of legitimate state objectives. The burden of proving the legislative classification unconstitutional is upon the party challenging the legislation. That party has the heavy burden of overcoming a presumption that the statute is constitutional.

State v. Shawn P., 122 Wn.2d 553, 561, 859 P.2d 1220 (1993).

In *Boot*, this Court held that RCW 13.04.030 does not violate equal protection by automatically assigning juveniles who meet certain requirements to adult court. 130 Wn.2d at 572. There, the argument was that it was impermissible for the

legislature to "draw a distinction between a young person who commits a crime one second before his sixteenth birthday, and one who commits a crime one second after his sixteenth birthday." *Id.* at 573. However, this Court disagreed, noting that the legislature's objective in enacting the statute was to increase the severity and certainty of punishment for youth and adults who commit violent acts, which was a "rational basis" for the statute. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Mendoza argues that RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(C)(III) violates equal protection because it affords the prosecutor unfettered discretion to decide when to remove a case to juvenile court. But agreement of both parties and the court is required to waive adult court jurisdiction. Consequently, the prosecutor lacks sole discretion to determine when and if a juvenile will be tried in adult court. Further, granting prosecutors discretion regarding whether to prosecute serious offenses in juvenile versus adult court is not arbitrary. Indeed, prosecutors are

afforded wide latitude in their decisions to bring charges and whether to offer plea deals to defendants.

Mendoza argues due process requires a *Kent*¹ hearing to determine whether the adult court should waive adult criminal court jurisdiction. But this Court has already determined that RCW 13.04.030 does not deprive a juvenile of due process because there is no constitutional right to be tried as a juvenile. *Boot*, 130 Wn.2d at 571 (citations omitted).

"[T]he Due Process Clause provides that certain substantive rights—life, liberty, and property—cannot be deprived except pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." *Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532, 541, 105 S. Ct. 1487, 84 L. Ed. 2d 494 (1985). "Compliance with procedural due process requires the court to identify the private interest affected by the official action, the risk of erroneous deprivation, the probable value of additional

¹ Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541, 86 S.Ct. 1045, 16 L.Ed.2d 84 (1966).

safeguards, and the State's interests." *State v. Watkins*, 191 Wn.2d 530, 537, 423 P.3d 830 (2018).

Our Supreme Court recently reaffirmed that "'[t]here is no constitutional right to be tried in juvenile court.'" *Id.* (quoting *Boot*, 130 Wn.2d at 571). Further, "the right [to a *Kent* hearing] attaches only if a court is given statutory *discretion* to assign juvenile or adult court jurisdiction." *State v. Salavea*, 151 Wn.2d 133, 140, 86 P.3d 125 (2004) (emphasis added). Our Supreme Court has upheld the constitutionality of automatic adult criminal court jurisdiction for certain enumerated offenses in RCW 9.94A.030. *Boot*, 130 Wn.2d at 557-58.

But Mendoza does not explain how RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(C)(III) would confer him a right to a *Kent* hearing. The court does not have statutory discretion to decide when to decline adult court jurisdiction. Rather, the court may only decline adult court jurisdiction if both parties agree. As such, the statute does not violate due process or equal protection.

c. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court meaningfully considered mitigating qualities of youth.

A sentencing court's determination will not be asset aside absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Cunningham*, 96 Wn.2d 31, 34, 633 P.2d 886 (1981). An abuse of discretion exists only where it can be said that no reasonable judge would have taken the view adopted by the trial court. *State v. Blight*, 89 Wn.2d 38, 41, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977).

"Generally, a criminal defendant is permitted to appeal a standard range sentence only if the sentencing court fails to follow an established procedure." *State v. M.L.*, 114 Wn. App. 358, 361, 57 P.3d 644 (2002). When a defendant challenges a standard range sentence, the appellate courts reviews the challenge only to determine whether the trial court complied with statutory and constitutional requirements in imposing the sentence. *Osman*, 157 Wn.2d at 481-82.

A court sentencing a juvenile must "consider the mitigating qualities of youth" and must have discretion to

impose a sentence below the standard range. *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 19, 391 P.3d 409 (2017); *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 481, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). However, youth is not a *per se* mitigating factor. *State v. Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d 420, 443, 387 P.3d 650 (2017).

However, the trial court still retains discretion to impose a standard range sentence. *State v. Gregg*, 196 Wn.2d 473, 478, 474 P.3d 539 (2020). And the burden is still on the defendant to prove substantial and compelling reasons to justify imposing an exceptional sentence on the defendant. RCW 9.94A.535. There is no presumption that a mitigated sentence is required. Gregg, 196 Wn.2d at 482. A standard range sentence does not become an exceptional sentence upward merely because it is imposed on a juvenile. *Id.* at 428-83.

The sentencing court must consider factors like the nature of the defendant's surrounding environment and family circumstances, the extent of the defendant's participation in the crime, and the way familial and peer pressures may have

affected him. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 23 (citation omitted). The sentencing court must also consider those qualities of youth including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences. *Id.* Finally, the sentencing court must consider how the defendant's youth impacted any legal defense, along with any factors suggesting that the child might be successfully rehabilitated. *Id.*

Here, the sentencing court properly considered Mendoza's youthfulness, and the factors related to his youth. 4/21/23 RP 62-66. First, the court correctly found this was not an impulsive crime. *Id.* at 63. The record also reflects that this was a coordinated ambush-style attack. Mendoza followed the victim, a rival gang member, and shot at her several times. *Id.* He was not in danger or acting to protect himself. *Id.* And this was not a crime of passion occurring within seconds. The crime involved Mendoza spotting Ms. Nunez and Mr. Ayala, arming himself, going outside with Mr. Rivera, following Ms. Nunez and Mr. Ayala, and shooting at her. CP 4, 117.

The court correctly found that Mendoza knew what he did was wrong. 4/21/23 RP 63. The record showed he could appreciate the risks and consequences from his actions. After the crime, he ran away and left the State, an indication that he knew what he did was wrong. *Id;* CP 5. Then, after being arrested, he tried to protect himself during the police interview. 4/21/23 RP 63. The court also noted that he had been in the juvenile court system for many years in the community and had several consequences there. *Id*.

As to Mendoza's participation level, the court correctly noted that he was a major participant. *Id.* at 64. This is supported by the record. Mendoza was the only one who shouted at the victim with a gang reference and the only one who was armed and shot at the victim. CP 118. Importantly, Mendoza never stated that the murder was to impress his fellow gang members or that they put any pressure on him to act when he shot and killed Ms. Nunez. CP 117.

As to Mendoza's upbringing, the court said that it was difficult to read and hard to understand. 4/21/23 RP 63. The State does not dispute that Mendoza had a difficult childhood. However, Mendoza was living an adult lifestyle, a sign of his maturity level. Mendoza "became more independent during adolescence living with various friends." *Id.* CP 128. He was in a relationship with an adult female and had a child with her. *Id.* at 129. He was not in parental control or in school, CP 142, and by any measure, was living as an adult.

As to rehabilitation, the key question is whether the defendant is capable of change. *United States v. Briones*, 929 F.3d 1057, 1066 (9th Cir. 2019)). Here, the trial court believed Mendoza could be successfully rehabilitated. *Id.* at 64. However, as indicated by the defense expert, Dr. Patterson, "The best predictor of violent recidivism is a history of antisocial behavior..." CP 136. Mendoza's criminal history and lack of success after years of probation are significant facts showing a lack of capacity to change. There was nothing to

show that any of the programs or services offered over the years had made a different in rehabilitating Mendoza.

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